COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between

SEASPAN ULC

And



(CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION LOCAL 378)

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN: SEASPAN ULC

AND: MOVEUP

(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE 1 — PURPOSE	1
1.01	1
1.02 No Discrimination	1
1.03	1
ARTICLE 2 — UNION SECURITY AND RECOGNITION	
2.01	
2.02	
2.03	2
2.04 Assignments of Wages and Employee Information	2
ARTICLE 3 — UNION REPRESENTATION	3
3.01 Union Recognition	3
3.02 Employee Contact	3
3.03	3
3.04	
3.05 Right to Have a Job Steward Present	3
ARTICLE 4 — THE RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER	4
4.01	
ARTICLE 5 — DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES.	5
5.01 Full-time Regular	
5.02 Part-time Regular	5
5.03 Temporary	5
5.04 Casual Employees	6
ARTICLE 6 — HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND SHIFT PREMIUM	
6.01	
6.02	
6.03	8
6.04	8
6.05 Overtime Premiums	8
6.06	8
6.07	8
6.08	8
6.09	9
6.10	9
6.11	9
6.12	9

ARTICLI	E 7 — STATUTORY HOLIDAY	10
7,01		10
7.02		10
7.03		10
7.04	Floating Holiday	10
	E 8 — ANNUAL VACATIONS	
8.03		11
0.04		11
0.05 8.06		11
8 10		12
8 11	Vacation Payout	12
ARTICLI	E 9 — LEAVE OF ABSENCE	13
9.01	Union Business	13
9.02	Bereavement Leave	
9.03	Funeral Leave	
9.04	Special Leave Without Pay	
9.05	Jury Duty	
9.06	Maternity Leave/Parental Leave	
9.07	Educational Upgrading	
	E 10 — SICK LEAVE, WELFARE PLANS AND PENSION PLAN	
AKTICLI		
10.01	Medical Plan and Extended Health Benefits	15
10.02	Sick Pay Plan	
10.03	Long Term Disability	
10.04	Group Life Insurance Plan	
10.05	Pension Plan	
10.06	Dental Plan	
10.07	General	
10.08		
10.09		16
ARTICL	E 11 — SALARIES	17
11.01.		17
11.05	Salary Progression	
11.07	Salary Increases	18
	E 12 — HIRING, PROMOTION, LAY-OFF, RECALL AND SEVERANCE PAY	
12.01	Job Vacancies	
12.01		
12.02		
12.03		
12.04	110battonary 1 Criou	
19 05		

12.06	Lay-off	20
	Recall	
		21
12.11	Salary on Bumping, Vacancy Placement and Recall	
ARTICLE	13 — SENIORITY	22
13.01		22
13.02		22
13.03		22
13.04		22
13.06		22
13.07		22
13.09		22
ARTICLE	14 — GENERAL	23
14.01		23
14.02	Picket Lines	
14.03	Bulletin Boards	
14.04	Health & Safety	
14.05	Personnel Files	
14.06	Bargaining Unit Work	23
14.07	Parking	
	15 — DISCHARGE AND TERMINATION	24
15.02		
	$16-{\rm TECHNOLOGICAL}$ OR PROCEDURAL CHANGES & SEVERANCE PAY	
16.04		
16.05	Severance Pay	25
ARTICLE	17 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	26
17.01		26
17.01		26
	18 — SINGLE ARBITRATOR	
-	C' l A l'inter Description	20
18.04	Single Arbitrator – Expedited Arbitration	
ARTICLE	19 — DURATION	29
19.01		29

APPEND	OIX "A"	30
APPEND	DIX "B"	36
LETTER	OF UNDERSTANDING #1	37
Re:	Compensation in Lieu of Earned Days Off	37
LETTER	OF UNDERSTANDING #2	38
RE:	Shift Crew Dispatcher & Marine Crewing Assistant Work Schedule	38

BETWEEN: SEASPAN ULC

(hereinafter referred to as the "Employer")

Party of the First Part

AND: MOVEUP

(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)

(hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

Party of the Second Part

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE

1.01

The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Employer and the employees; to define clearly the hours of work, rates of pay and conditions of employment; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may from time to time arise; and to promote the mutual interest of the Employer and employees and in recognition whereof, the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:

1.02 No Discrimination

Neither the Union nor the Employer, in carrying out their obligations under this Agreement, shall discriminate in matters of hiring, training, promotion, transfer, lay-off, discharge or otherwise because of race, colour, national or ethnic origin, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, family status, disability or criminal conviction for which a pardon has been granted. Definition of these protected classes will be consistent with the definitions in the Canadian Human Rights Act.

Notwithstanding the above, the parties agree that should any new protected classes be added to the Canadian Human Rights Act during the life of this Agreement that they will be deemed to be included in this language.

1.03

In view of the requirement for the Company to conform to the Employment Equity Act, the Company and the Union affirm their intent to further the aims of employment equity in the workplace. The Parties agree to consult and, through mutual agreement, address practices and conditions to fulfill their obligations with regard to the Employment Equity Act.

ARTICLE 2 — UNION SECURITY AND RECOGNITION

2.01

This Agreement shall apply solely to employees in the bargaining unit, for which the Union is certified under the Canada Labour Code and shall be binding on the Employer and the Union and their respective successors or assigns.

2.02

The Employer agrees that all employees covered under this Agreement, as a condition of employment, shall within thirty (30) days from the effective date of this Agreement, become and remain members of the Union.

2.03

The Employer furthers agrees that all new employees hired subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement, shall as a condition of employment, become and remain members of the Union effective their first day of employment.

Assignments of Wages and Employee Information

Upon written authorization from the employee, the Employer agrees to deduct Union initiation fees, dues and assessments from the wages of each employee, and to transmit the monies so collected to the Union once monthly, together with the following information as to the persons from whose pay such deductions have been made:

- (a) Employee name
- (b) ID number (if available)
- (c) home address
- (d) date of hire
- (e) job classification
- (f) employment status
- (g) gross earnings for the applicable period
- (h) amount of dues deducted
- (i) telephone number, except where employees have expressly indicated that their number is unlisted

Such information shall be supplied by the Company in a form mutually acceptable to the Parties. In addition, the Company will provide the Union with updated information as changes occur.

ARTICLE 3 — UNION REPRESENTATION

3.01 Union Recognition

The Employer shall recognize the Union and the Representative(s) selected by the Union for purposes of collective bargaining, Agreement administration and general Union business as the sole and exclusive Representative(s) of all employees within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 of this Agreement.

3.02 Employee Contact

The Representative(s) of the Union shall have the right to contact the employees at their place of employment on matters respecting the Agreement or its administration. The Union Representative(s) will obtain authorization from the Employer as to appropriate time for such contact before meeting the employee.

3.03

The Employer shall recognize the Job Steward(s) elected or appointed by the Union and shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against such Job Steward(s) for carrying out the duties proper to that position. The Union shall inform the Employer of the names of the Job Steward(s).

3.04

The Job Steward(s) may, within reason, investigate and process grievances or confer with the Representative(s) of the Union during regular working hours, without loss of pay, provided such does not interfere with the employee(s) work schedule. Steward(s) will obtain permission from their immediate supervisor before leaving their immediate area for such purpose and such permission will not be unreasonably denied.

3.05 Right to Have a Job Steward Present

- An Employee shall have the right to have a Job Steward present at any discussion with management personnel where the basis of the discussion is disciplinary in nature. The employee shall be given advance notice of the meeting and of <u>their</u> right to have a Job Steward present at that meeting.
- b) An Employee shall have the right to refuse to participate or to continue to participate in any discussion with management personnel, where the basis of the discussion is disciplinary in nature, until a Job Steward can be present. An Employee who exercises this right of refusal shall not suffer any prejudice, penalty or discipline as a result.
- c) This clause does not apply to discussions that are of an operational nature or do not involve disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 4 — THE RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER

4.01

The Union recognizes that the management and the operation of, and the direction and promotion of the working forces is vested exclusively in the Employer and that the Employer shall have the right to select its employees and to discipline or discharge them for just and reasonable cause, provided that such rights are not exercised in a manner contrary to the provisions of the Agreement and subject to the right of the Union or employee to grieve as provided in Article 17 and 18 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 — DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

5.01 Full-time Regular

An employee hired to work on a full-time basis in a regular continuing position.

5.02 Part-time Regular

An employee hired to work regular hours or days on a continuing basis, but who works less than the normal working hours in a month. These employees shall be covered by all conditions of this Agreement except as follows:

- (a) Bereavement, Severance and Jury Duty pay will be on a pro-rata basis consistent with days normally employed. Duration of Bereavement, Funeral and Jury Duty entitlement will be on the same basis as for full-time regular employees with the same calendar service.
- (b) After completion of thirty (30) days of employment, they shall receive Statutory Holiday pay based on their regular daily rate of pay. This will be paid if either the Statutory Holiday falls on one of their normally scheduled work days or provided they have been paid a minimum of fifteen (15) days in the thirty (30) working days immediately preceding the Statutory Holiday.
- (c) Annual vacation entitlement shall be the same as for a full-time regular employee. Vacation pay shall be calculated at four percent (4%), six percent (6%), eight percent (8%), ten percent (10%) or twelve percent (12%) of gross earnings. On each anniversary date, a part-time regular employee shall have the option of accruing annual vacation pay to be paid out at the time of taking annual vacation.
- (d) These employees will be carried on a separate Part-time Regular Employees seniority list. When these employees become Full-time Regular employees, they will be placed at the bottom of the Full-time Regular Employees seniority list.

5.03 Temporary

An employee hired on a full-time or part-time basis for a specified period, on a project basis, not exceeding six (6) months duration except:

- (i) where extended by mutual agreement of the Parties;
- (ii) to back fill for an employee absent on Special Leave under Article 9.04;
- (iii) to back fill for an employee absent on Maternity and/or Parental Leave under Article 9.06;
- (iv) to back fill for an employee absent on Sick Leave under Article 10.02; and
- (v) to back fill for an employee absent on Long Term Disability under Article 10.03

Temporary employees shall be covered by all conditions of this Agreement, except as follows:

- (a) After completion of thirty (30) days employment, they shall receive Statutory Holiday pay based on their regular daily rate of pay. This will be paid if either the Statutory Holiday falls on one of their normally scheduled work days or provided they have been paid a minimum of fifteen (15) days in thirty (30) working days immediately preceding the Statutory Holiday.
- (b) Vacation pay shall be paid on each pay, calculated at the applicable percentage of gross earnings for the period employed.
- (c) Bereavement, Funeral and Jury Duty leave will be granted without pay, and duration will be on the same basis as for full-time regular employees with the same calendar service.

- (d) Union Business leave, Special Leave Without Pay and Educational Upgrading shall not be granted.
- (e) Temporary employees shall be paid not less than the start rate for the classification they are backfilling, or a comparable position in the bargaining unit. Where a comparable position does not exist, the Employer will set the rate and advise the Union.
- (f) Reasonable notice of lay-off or termination, but not less than one (1) weeks notice shall be given by the Employer.
- (g) A Temporary employee attaining Full-time regular or Part-time regular status will have rights under this Agreement which are based on length of service and seniority dated from the start of continuous employment.
- (h) Article 16 of this Agreement shall not apply to temporary employees.
- (i) After three months continuous employment, a full-time temporary employee may elect to receive medical, dental and EHB coverage.

5.04 Casual Employees

An employee hired on an as-and-when required basis during periods when regular employees are sick, on leave of absence, on vacation, subject to excessive work loads or emergency situations. The period of employment shall not exceed sixty (60) working days except where extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer. Casual employees shall be covered by all conditions of this Agreement except as follows:

- (a) After completion of thirty (30) days employment, they shall receive Statutory Holiday pay based on their regular daily rate of pay. This will be paid if either the Statutory Holiday falls on one of their normally scheduled work days or provided they have been paid a minimum of fifteen (15) days in the thirty (30) working days immediately preceding the Statutory Holiday.
- (b) Vacation pay shall be paid on each pay, calculated at the applicable percentage of gross earnings for the period employed.
- (c) Bereavement, Funeral and Jury Duty leave will be granted without pay, and duration will be on the same basis as for full-time regular employees with the same calendar service.
- (d) Union Business leave, Special Leave Without Pay and Educational Upgrading shall not be granted.
- (e) Rate of pay shall be not less than the start rate for the position in which employed and the Union advised for the purpose of deduction and remittance of applicable union dues.
- (f) Reasonable notice of lay-off or termination, but not less than one (1) weeks notice, shall be given by the Employer.
- (g) A casual employee attaining regular full-time or regular part-time status will have rights under this Agreement which are based on length of service and seniority dated from the start of continuous employment.
- (h) Article 16 of this Agreement shall not apply to casual employees.

ARTICLE 6 — HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND SHIFT PREMIUM

6.01

- (a) The regular work schedule for full-time regular employees, except for those in jobs per (b) below, shall be seven and one-half (7 ½) consecutive hours, exclusive of meal periods, for five (5) consecutive days, Monday to Friday inclusive. Each employee shall select, subject to operational requirements, on seniority basis, a start time between 6:30 a.m. and 9:00 a.m., and the selected hours of work (i.e., shift) shall not be changed without mutual agreement of the Parties (Employer and Union). The Switchboard/Receptionist desk may be staffed between the hours of 6:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.
- (b) (i) The regular work schedule for Shift Crew Dispatchers, and Relief Crew Dispatcher(s) shall consist of five (5), seven and one-half (7 ½) hour days 7:30 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., Monday to Friday inclusive except as specified in (ii) below. This regular work schedule shall be implemented on a Trial basis in accordance with Letter of Understanding #2.
 - (ii) The Shift Crew Dispatcher and Marine Crewing Assistant will be "on call" outside of regular working hours as defined in (i) above and on Saturday and Sunday, once every three (3) weeks on a rotational basis, and will receive the Monday following their week of "on call" duties off with pay plus the weekly "on call" remuneration in (iv) below, in addition to all other compensation in this Collective Agreement, to handle any crewing calls relayed by the duty tug dispatcher.
 - (iii) If the "on call" Employee is required to work in the office on Saturday or Sunday to perform their "on call" duties they will be compensated at two (2) times their current step on the Grade 6 salary scale for a minimum of four (4) hours or all time worked, whichever is greater. The "on call" Employee must receive prior management approval to work in the office on Saturday or Sunday.
 - (iv) Weekly "on call" remuneration for the foregoing duties will be as follows: \$277.21
 - (v) The incumbent Shift Crew Dispatchers at the date of ratification of this Collective Agreement will be grandfathered and continue to receive their monthly "on call" remuneration as follows: \$600.33

6.02

EDO's will be earned and taken as follows:

- (a) For Employees hired prior to 01 March 2013, EDO's shall be earned in accordance with 6.02 (b)(v).
- (b) Employees hired on or after 01 March 2013 shall earn paid days off (EDOs) in accordance with the following schedule:
 - (i) Employees who have less than one (1) years' service shall earn zero point four two (0.42) paid days off per month (maximum five (5) days off in twelve (12) calendar months);
 - (ii) Employees who have more than one (1) years' service but less than two (2) years' service shall earn zero point eight three (0.83) paid days off per month (maximum ten (10) days off in twelve (12) calendar months);
 - (iii) Employees who have more than two (2) years' service but less than three (3) years' service shall earn one point zero (1.0) paid days off per month (maximum twelve (12) days off in twelve (12) calendar months);

- (iv) Employees who have more than three (3) years' service but less than four (4) years' service shall earn one point zero eight (1.08) paid days off per month (maximum thirteen (13) days off in twelve (12) calendar months); and
- (v) Employees who have more than four (4) years' service shall earn one point one seven (1.17) paid days off (maximum fourteen (14) days in each twelve calendar months.)
- (c) Each Employee may take a maximum of two (2) earned days off in any one (1) month except that, by mutual agreement between the Employee and the Employer and where circumstances permit, more than two (2) earned days off may be taken in any one (1) month. There will be no carry-over from one year to the next. Unused days will be paid out by May 31st of each year.
- (d) Effective the first day of the month following ratification of the Memorandum of Agreement by both Parties, accrual of EDOs will be aligned with the vacation year (i.e. June 1 to May 31).
- (e) Any employee absent from work on sick leave for 15 consecutive days or longer in a calendar month or on any leave of absence without pay for 5 consecutive days or longer in a calendar month will not earn their EDO entitlement for that month.
- (f) EDO entitlement in accordance with (a) above, as negotiated in the 2011 2015 Collective Agreement, will be grandfathered for Full-time Regular Employees and not subject to negotiation in future collective bargaining.
- An unpaid lunch period of thirty (30) minutes will be provided and taken within the two (2) hours in the middle of the regular working day, the precise time of which will be arranged between the Employer and the employee.
- Two (2) paid relief periods per day of fifteen (15) minutes each will be provided and taken, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon.
- 6.05 Overtime Premiums

All time worked before or after the regularly established working day shall be considered overtime and be paid for at two hundred percent (200%) of the employee's straight time hourly rate. An employee's straight time hourly rate shall be calculated by dividing current monthly salary by one sixty-two and one-half (162.50).

- 6.06
 All time worked on Saturday and/or Sunday shall be considered as overtime and paid at the rate of two hundred percent (200%) of the employee's straight time hourly rate.
- An employee requested to work overtime beyond the regular work day shall be allowed a one (1) hour meal period at the regular straight time hourly rate of pay, provided such overtime is in excess of two (2) hours work. The meal period may be taken before, during or after the overtime work, as may be mutually agreed.
- An employee called back to work after completing a regular days work or from a regular day off shall be paid overtime rates for a minimum of four (4) hours or for time worked, whichever is greater.

- There will be no carry-over of banked overtime from one year to the next or from one department to another. Unused banked time will be paid-out at the applicable rate annually or at the time of transfer or promotion to another position and department.
- Employees who work overtime may request time off in lieu of overtime pay, but such time off must be taken at a time mutually agreed upon with the Employer. The length of time off with pay shall be equal to the straight time equivalent of the overtime earnings.
- **6.11**Employees shall be at their respective positions ready to begin work at their scheduled starting time and shall not quit work in advance of their scheduled quitting time.
- All overtime must be pre-authorized by the Employer. Employees shall submit their overtime forms to the Employer on a semi-monthly basis.

ARTICLE 7 — STATUTORY HOLIDAY

7.01

New Year's Day Family Day (effective February 2013)
Good Friday Labour Day Victoria Day
Easter Monday Thanksgiving Day Remembrance Day
Canada Day Christmas Day Boxing Day

BC Day

and any other day that may be stated a legal holiday by the Provincial or Federal Government.

Should any of the above holidays fall on an employee's regular day off, the employee shall receive an additional day off or days off with pay, to be taken on either a Friday or Monday or at a time mutually agreed with the Employer.

7.02

No work shall be performed by employees on the above-mentioned holidays, except in unforeseen circumstances. Work performed on such occasions will be paid at two hundred percent (200%) of the employee's straight time hourly rate and such employees shall be given an alternate day off with pay.

7.03

In the event any of the holidays enumerated in Section 1 above occur during the period of an employee's vacation, an additional day of vacation, with pay, shall be allowed for each holiday so occurring.

7.04 Floating Holiday

All full-time regular employees shall be entitled to a "floating" day off, with pay, once each calendar year, which shall be in addition to the Statutory Holiday and annual vacation entitlement provided for in Article 7 and 8 of this Agreement. The "floating" day off shall be taken at a date arranged in advance by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer. The pre-arranged day off may be changed at the request of the employee or Employer but only by mutual consent.

Collective Agreement between:

SEASPAN ULC and MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Local 378) Term: March 1, 2019 – February 28, 2025

ARTICLE 8 — ANNUAL VACATIONS

The vacation year is the period of twelve (12) months commencing June 1 to May 31. Regular employees shall receive annual vacation entitlements each vacation year to be taken in the following vacation year. Any fraction of a day's credit will be treated as a whole Day. All Regular Employees shall be entitled to a paid vacation in accordance with the following schedule:

8.01

During the first twelve (12) months' service an employee shall receive a paid vacation entitlement of ten (10) working days. An Employee may, after six (6) months' service, request to take up to five (5) working days' paid vacation. Approval of the Employee's request will be at the discretion of the Employer, and will not be unreasonably denied.

- 8.02

 Each employee who completes two (2) years' service shall receive fifteen (15) working days paid vacation.
- Each employee who completes seven (7) years' service shall receive twenty (20) working days paid vacation.
- Each employee who completes fifteen (15) years' service shall receive twenty-five (25) working days paid vacation.
- Each employee who completes twenty (20) years' service shall receive thirty (30) working days paid vacation.
- Payment for vacations shall be at the employee's regular classification wage rate at the time vacation is taken, or at four percent (4%), six percent (6%), eight percent (8%), ten percent (10%) or twelve percent (12%) of gross earnings, whichever is greater.

Where an employee has not received wages from the Employer for any period during the vacation year (June 1-May 31) of more than three (3) weeks, by reason of leave of absence without pay as per Article 9, Section 4, lay-off as per Article 12, Section 6 or receiving Long Term Disability as per Article 10, Section 3, vacation pay shall be paid at the applicable percentage of gross earnings for that vacation year.

- Employees desiring to take vacations in broken periods shall be entitled to take them in periods of one (1) week, two (2) weeks, three (3) weeks, etc. Vacation selections must be pre-approved by the Employer and will not be unreasonably denied.
- Employees shall select their vacation periods in order of seniority, as defined in this Agreement, however, only one (1) vacation period shall be selected by seniority until all employees in the signing group have selected one (1) period. Subsequently, all employees in the signing group who have chosen to take their vacation in broken periods shall select, in order of seniority, for a second vacation period and again for subsequent periods, until all periods are chosen.

Notwithstanding section 8.07 on this agreement, employees' vacation selection will be limited to a maximum of four (4) weeks vacation during the Prime Vacation Period, unless otherwise approved by management. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. For the purpose

of this section, Prime Vacation Period shall be the vacation time between June 15^{th} to September 15^{th} of each year.

8.09

Employees who have completed one (1) or two (2) years' service shall be entitled to bank up to a maximum of one (1) week vacation. Employees who have completed three (3) years' service, or more, shall be entitled to bank up to a maximum of two (2) weeks vacation.

Employees who have completed five (5) years' service or more shall be entitled to bank up to a maximum of three (3) weeks vacation. Such banked vacation may be taken in the following year, or later, subject to the Employer's right to approve the overall vacation schedule.

8.10

A common anniversary date of June 1 has been granted by the Canada Department of Labour, and the vacation year is the period of twelve (12) months commencing June 1 to May 31. During the transitional years (the 1st, 2nd, 7th, 15th and 20th year of service), vacation entitlements shall be calculated as per Appendix "B" which is attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.

8.11 Vacation Payout

Employees who have completed seven (7) years' service with 20 working days or more of paid vacation entitlement may request up to five (5) days of vacation to be paid out. Such request shall be made to their direct manager, providing not less than ten (10) calendar days notice before the scheduled payday on which the employee is requesting the payout be made. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

Each eligible employee may only elect to be paid out for vacation days once per vacation calendar year.

ARTICLE 9 — LEAVE OF ABSENCE

9.01 Union Business

Leave of absence, without pay, will be granted to employees for the purpose of attending to Union business, providing the Employer's work requirements will allow for such leave. The Union will request such leave by giving the Employer at least two (2) weeks notice, and such leave will not be unreasonably denied. To facilitate the administration of this clause, when a leave of absence without pay is granted, the Employer will continue the Employee's normal salary, subject to timely reimbursement by the Union.

9.02 Bereavement Leave

In case of death in the immediate family of the employee, i.e., father, mother, husband, wife, son, daughter, sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, step father, step mother, step brother, step sister, step children and step grandparents, an employee shall be granted compassionate leave of up to five (5) days, with pay. Such leave of absence shall not be charged against annual vacation entitlement.

9.03 Funeral Leave

Upon application to the <u>Employer</u> an amount of time, up to a maximum of one-half (1/2) day leave of absence, without deduction of pay, to attend a funeral as pallbearer or mourner may be granted.

9.04 Special Leave Without Pay

An employee may be granted leave of absence without pay for personal reasons upon written application. Such leave shall be at the discretion of the Employer. It is understood that such leave shall not unduly interfere with the operations of the department concerned.

9.05 Jury Duty

Employees who are required, by law, to serve as jurors or witnesses in any court, competent jurisdiction, or any proceeding resulting from employment with the Employer, shall be granted leave of absence with pay for this purpose. The employees concerned shall deposit with the Employer any pay received for such service, other than expenses, and shall render an accounting of amounts received together with proof of service.

9.06 Maternity Leave/Parental Leave

- (a) Employees shall be eligible for Maternity/Parental leave in accordance with the Canada Labour Code.
- (b) In addition, Employees who have completed one (1) year of continuous service shall be eligible, in accordance with the Company's Policy (March 2007), for the following:
 - (i) During the two (2) week waiting period, Employees shall be paid ninety percent (90%) of their weekly salary:
 - (ii) For the fifteen (15) week Maternity Leave and for the first fifteen (15) weeks of Parental Leave, the Company will top up the salary over and above the EI benefits to ninety percent (90%) of their weekly salary for a total of up to thirty-two (32) weeks of leave, to a maximum of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000.00);
- (c) Employees who voluntarily terminate within six (6) months of the conclusion of the Maternity or Parental Leave, are required to repay the entire top-up benefit in full to the Company.
- (d) Vacancies created by Maternity Leave/Parental Leave will be posted as Temporary positions, i.e. the Employee must be reinstated in accordance with the Canada Labour Code.

(e) Such leave will not affect annual vacation entitlements or seniority.

9.07 Educational Upgrading

- (a) Where an employee completes a job related night school educational course as approved in advance by the Employer, the Employer will reimburse one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of this course to the employee.
- (b) When an employee registers in a job related educational certificate program as approved in advance by the Employer, the Employer upon registration will reimburse one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of each course to the employee.
- (c) When the Employer requests an employee to attend a job related educational course, the Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost upon registration.
- (d) The Employer further agrees that where such educational leave as detailed in (b) or (c) above is granted during normal working hours, the leave shall be without loss of wages or benefits.
- (e) In the event any employee attends an educational course as specified in (c) above, and that day is other than a regular working day, then a compensating day off with pay shall be granted and taken by the employee immediately preceding or succeeding the day of attendance at such course, or at such other time as is mutually agreed upon between the Employer and the employee.

ARTICLE 10 - SICK LEAVE, WELFARE PLANS AND PENSION PLAN

All newly hired full-time regular and part-time regular employees, regularly scheduled to work three (3) days or more per week, shall <u>receive coverage</u> for Extended Health Benefits, Sick Pay, Long Term Disability, Group Life Insurance and Dental Plan. Benefits shall commence on the first of the month following completion of their probationary period.

10.01 Medical Plan and Extended Health Benefits

Coverage under Medical Services Plan of BC and the Company Group Insurance Program shall remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement with one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost paid by the Employer. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request.

10.02 Sick Pay Plan

The present Sick Pay Plan which pays up to one hundred percent (100%) of <u>an employees</u> salary for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks shall remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request. Employees absent from work in excess of three (3) days may be required to present a doctor's certificate on return to work in order to receive sick pay, and shall be reimbursed for the cost of obtaining such certificate. Notice of such requirement to present a doctor's certificate shall be given, either prior to commencement of such absence, or during such absence, but prior to the employee's return to work.

10.03 Long Term Disability

The present Long Term Disability Plan shall remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement with the full premium cost paid by the Employer. The Plan comes into effect only if the disability continues beyond the fifteen (15) week Sick Pay Plan provided for in Article 10.02. The Plan will pay a disabled employee seventy-five percent (75%) of base salary for as long as the employee remains disabled, or until the employee reaches normal retirement age, subject to the qualifications as laid out in the text of the Plan. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request.

10.04 Group Life Insurance Plan

The present Group Life Insurance Plan shall remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement with the full premium cost paid by the Employer. The Plan provides for insurance in the amount of three times (3X) annual salary to a maximum of \$500,000 and the employee is also covered for an equal amount of Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance.

The Accidental Loss of one (1) hand, one (1) foot or the sight of one (1) eye - fifty percent (50%) of the amount for which insured. Loss of a combination of two (2) or more of the above one hundred percent (100%) of the amount for which insured. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request.

10.05 Pension Plan

All regular employees shall participate in the Company's Pension for Salaried Employees on the first of the month following completion of three calendar months of employment. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request. Regular Union employees shall receive the same level of entitlement as the non-union salaried employees/managers.

10.06 Dental Plan

Coverage under the PBC Dental Care Plan shall continue in effect for the duration of this Agreement with one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost paid by the Employer. The Plan pays for Part A - one hundred percent (100%), for Part B - sixty percent (60%), and for Part C - sixty percent (60%).

Part A: pertains to routine dental care. It includes diagnostic services such as examinations, consultations, X-rays, preventative services such as cleaning and scaling of teeth, topical fluoride and regular maintenance such as fillings, extractions, etc.

Part B: pertains to major restorative expenses, such as crowns, bridges, dentures, endodontic and periodontic treatment, etc.

Part C: involves prescribed orthodontic work required to correct malocclusion. Details of the Plan shall be made available to all employees on request.

10.07 General

(a) An employee receiving Long Term Disability Plan benefits shall have the right to return to their former job for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of disability and shall continue to accrue seniority for the first twelve (12) months only, from the date of disability.

Should the employee become employable on a full-time regular basis subsequent to the expiry of this twenty-four (24) month period, <u>they</u> shall be placed on the recall list for a period of <u>twelve</u> (12) months.

- (b) When an employee is receiving paid sick leave, WCB and/or Long Term Disability Plan benefits, the Welfare Plan premium cost shall continue to be paid by the Employer.
- (c) An Employee's Sick Pay Plan will be reinstated as follows:
 - (i) in the case of a recurring disability, full benefits will be reinstated within three months of return to active employment following the latest absence for the same illness or injury; and
 - (ii) in the case of a new disability, full benefits will be reinstated within one month of return to active employment following the latest absence due to illness or injury.

10.08 Extended Sick Leave Without Pay

- (a) An employee shall be granted up to <u>seventeen (17) weeks</u> extended sick leave without pay in addition to the fifteen (15) week paid sick leave referred to in Article 10.02.
- (b) Prior to commencement of extended sick leave, the employee shall prepay fifty percent (50%) of all Welfare Plan premium costs for the period of extended sick leave without pay.
- (c) An employee shall continue to accrue seniority during the fifteen (15) week period of paid sick leave and the <u>seventeen (17) week</u> period of extended sick leave without pay.
- (d) An employee who is unable to return to work at the expiration of extended sick leave without pay, shall be placed on the recall list for a further period of twelve (12) months.

10.09

Regular Union employees will be entitled to a post-retirement benefit package should this be implemented for non-union salaried employees/managers.

ARTICLE 11 — SALARIES

11.01

All Employees will be covered by a job classification that will be evaluated in accordance with the necessary qualifications and skills required, and shall be paid not less than the salary specified for such job classification in accordance with the salary Grades as set forth in Appendix "A", which is attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.

11.02

Any position not covered by Appendix "A", new positions which may be established during the life of this Agreement, or reclassification of existing positions by reason of significant changes in job content, shall be subject to negotiation and agreement with the Union prior to implementation with respect to classification and salary for the position in question. In the event that the Parties fail to agree, such matters may be referred to a mutually acceptable third Party qualified in job evaluation techniques, the cost of whom shall be shared equally by the Parties. If the Parties fail to agree upon such mutually acceptable third Party, the matter shall be referred to a single arbitrator as provided in Article 18 of this Agreement.

11.03

It is agreed that the salaries contained in Appendix "A" are minimum salaries. This Agreement shall not be so construed as to reduce the pay or increase the hours of any employee within the bargaining unit, nor shall it be so construed that any employee may not be advanced or promoted in the service of the Employer.

11.04

- (a) An employee who is promoted to a higher job classification shall be placed on the three (3) month step of the salary range for the new classification and receive a minimum increase of seventy-five dollars (\$75.00) per month.
- (b) Upon satisfactory completion of the ninety (90) days' trial period and providing the employee has had previous experience at the specific job classification, the employee shall be moved to the twelve (12) month step of the salary range of the new classification.

11.05 Salary Progression

Employees shall progress up the salary range for their job classification, but pay increases may be withheld if, in the opinion of the Employer, progress and performance is not satisfactory and further training is required, subject to the employee's right to grieve if such increase is unreasonably withheld. Employees must work the required number of months, as indicated in Appendix A, to receive the increase. Time spent while on an approved leave of absence, greater than one (1) consecutive month, will not be credited towards time worked for the purposes of salary progression specified in Appendix A.

However, if an employee is placed on a length of service step higher than the minimum required by <u>their</u> service, (i.e.) on being hired or by promotion, <u>they</u> shall receive increases thereafter as provided for in <u>their</u> classification range; (eg.) an employee placed on the twelve (12) month step shall not be required to wait twenty-four (24) months before proceeding to the twenty-four (24) month step, but shall be paid the twenty-four (24) month rate after twelve (12) months service at the twelve (12) month step, provided progress and performance is satisfactory.

11.06

- (a) An employee assigned to a higher job classification or temporarily replacing another employee in such higher classification shall be paid at the higher rate as determined by the foregoing Article 11.04 for the period so employed for periods of one (1) day or more.
- (b) When employees are requested to perform work of a classification excluded from the Bargaining Unit, they will be paid the maximum rate for their current classification plus ten percent (10%) for all time so worked for periods of one (1) day or more.

11.07 Salary Increases

All Employees shall receive general increases on the dates set out in Appendix "A" in accordance with the following schedule:

- (a) Effective March 1, 2019 general increase of 2.3%
- (b) Effective March 1, 2020 general increase of 2.0%*
- (c) Effective March 1, 2021 general increase of 2.0%*
- (d) Effective March 1, 2022 general increase of 2.0%*
- (e) Effective March 1, 2023 general increase of 2.0%*
- (f) Effective March 1, 2024 general increase of 2.0%*
- * The Parties recognize that the employer is currently in bargaining with the Canadian Merchant Service Guild (CMSG) and International Longshore & Warehouse Union (ILWU), Local 400.

In any of the years above, should either the CMSG or ILWU receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated, the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis.

The Parties agree that a \$0.50 (fifty cents) per hour wage increase will be applied to the Receptionist position at Seaspan ULC. Such wage increase shall be retroactive to March 1, 2019. All subsequent wage increases shall be calculated on the increased hourly rate.

11.08

Employees will receive their monthly salary in two (2) equal payments, one (1) by the 15th of each month and one (1) by the last working day in the month, less statutory deductions and Union dues in accordance with Article 2. An Employee who is terminated, laid off or discharged shall receive all amounts due to them no later than the last day worked.

Page 18

ARTICLE 12 — HIRING, PROMOTION, LAY-OFF, RECALL AND SEVERANCE PAY

12.01 Job Vacancies

The Employer shall fill job vacancies from within the bargaining unit before hiring new employees, providing there are bargaining unit employees who apply to fill the vacant position, having the necessary qualifications and ability required to perform the job. When vacancies are not filled from within the bargaining unit, the Employer shall interview and consider applicants from the Union's unemployed roster.

12.02 Job Posting

- (a) Notice of all job vacancies shall be posted on the office bulletin board for three (3) working days (and where possible emailed to company email addresses) and shall include the job title, job grade, pay rate and a brief description of the job duties including necessary qualifications. The Employer shall also make a reasonable attempt to notify employees who are absent on vacation or leave during the posting period and who, prior to their leave, have informed the Employer of their interest in changing positions. Employees who make application during this three (3) working day period will be considered for the job. Employees who apply after three (3) working days will be considered with external applicants.
- (b) Such job vacancies shall be posted within three (3) days of the known vacancy and the vacant position(s) shall be filled within fifteen (15) days where possible thereafter. In addition, a copy of each such posting shall be forwarded to the Union and the Chief Job Steward, advising whether the posting is for a new or replacement position and, if the latter, which employee has terminated and the former employee's job classification.

12.03 Promotions and Transfers

A promotion is defined as the move of an employee to a higher classification than that presently occupied. A transfer is defined as the move of an employee to another position within the same classification.

Promotions, transfers, layoffs and recalls shall be made on the basis of seniority, necessary qualifications and ability required to perform the job.

"Experience" shall not be a criteria in respect of the foregoing. Where an employee has been selected for a permanent position they may not apply for a transfer or voluntary demotion during the first six (6) months in the new position.

In the event two (2) or more applicants in the bargaining unit have the necessary qualifications and ability required to perform the job, the employee applicant with the greatest seniority shall be awarded the vacancy.

12.04 Probationary Period

- (a) All new employees, except temporary employees, will be considered probationary for up to the first ninety (90) days of employment, and the probationary period may be extended by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer. Notice of extension of the probationary period shall be in writing to the employee, with a copy to the Union and such notice shall be given during the thirty (30) day period prior to the completion of the ninety (90) day probationary period.
- (b) Temporary employees attaining regular status shall have their temporary period of employment included in their probationary period.

12.05

- (a) Employees wishing training opportunities in different areas/departments of the Company shall advise Corporate Human Resources in writing and the Company will take such requests into consideration and attempt to accommodate these requests where disruption to the operation would be minimal.
- (b) Temporary vacancies of a known duration of six (6) months or longer, which the employer intends to fill, will be posted and filled in accordance with Articles 12.02 and 12.03. However, this requirement for posting only applies to the initial vacancy, not subsequent temporary jobs created as a result of filling the initial posting.

12.06 Lay-off

If a reduction of office staff is necessary, the following procedure shall be adopted:

- (a) the employee with the least amount of seniority in any job classification will be the first laid-off from that job, but <u>they</u> may displace an employee with less seniority in the same or lower pay Grade, providing <u>they have</u> the demonstrated ability or can demonstrate in a reasonable period of time, the necessary ability to perform the job.
- (b) Employees who are displaced from their job as a result of such bump-back procedure may themselves displace employees having less seniority in the same or lower pay Grade, providing such employees have the demonstrated ability or can demonstrate in a reasonable period of time, the necessary ability to perform the job.

12.07

All regular (i.e. permanent) employees shall be given two (2) weeks notice of lay-off or two (2) weeks' salary in lieu of notice.

12.08

- (a) Any Regular employee with six (6) months or more of service who is laid-off and cannot or has chosen not to bump in accordance with Article 12.06 may elect either:
 - (i) to be placed on the recall list for a maximum of twelve (12) months, or
 - (ii) termination.
- (b) (i) Employees with six (6) months or more of service who elect termination in accordance with Article (a) (ii) above shall be entitled to two (2) weeks' notice or pay in lieu of notice, payable on the date the Employee terminates and waives recall rights.
 - (ii) Employees with a minimum of one (1) consecutive years' service who elect termination in accordance with Article (a) (ii) above shall be entitled to severance pay of two (2) weeks' pay for each full year of service to a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks.
- (c) Severance pay shall be based on the employee's regular rate of pay at the date of severance and will be payable on either the date the employee terminates and waives recall rights, or at the expiry of the recall period.
- (d) An employee who receives severance pay under this clause is not eligible to receive severance pay under Article 16.05 (and vice versa) for the same separation of employment.

12.09 Recall

- (a) Copies of up to date Recall lists and all notices of Recall will be sent to the Union office.
- (b) Employees on the recall list shall have the right to return to their former job if it becomes vacant. However, all employees on the recall list shall have the right to apply for a vacancy in any classification and if selected, shall be subject to a trial period of up to ninety (90) days. The Employer shall not post the vacancy until employees on the recall list have been considered.

12.10

- (a) Notice of recall to an employee who has been laid-off shall be sent by registered mail, courier or email to the last known residential or email address of the employee. The employee must respond to such notice within seven (7) calendar days of receiving it or lose rights of seniority and recall. An employee who is prevented from responding to a recall notice because of illness or other reason beyond the employee's control shall not lose rights thereby, but such employee may be bypassed for the position available. An employee bypassed, as provided above, will remain on the recall list for the remaining recall period.
- (b) Employees on the Recall list will ensure the Employer has their current residential or email address for recall.

12.11 Salary on Bumping, Vacancy Placement and Recall

- (a) Employees recalled to their former position, or to a position having the same salary rate shall receive the current rate for the step in the salary range which they held at the time of lay-off.
- (b) Employees recalled to a position with a salary range which is lower than their former position, shall be paid their former salary if it is not higher than the maximum rate for the position to which they are recalled. If the former salary is higher, they shall be paid the maximum rate for the lower position.
- (c) The foregoing Clauses (a) and (b) shall also apply to vacancy placements and bumping due to layoffs.

ARTICLE 13 — SENIORITY

13.01

Seniority shall mean length of continuous service with the Employer and predecessors, as an employee in the bargaining unit, except that credit shall be given for all continuous service prior to certification of the bargaining unit.

13.02

Except as provided in Article 13.03 following, an employee who leaves the bargaining unit and subsequently returns, will be considered a new employee from the date of re-entering the unit for the purpose of determining seniority credit.

- 13.03
- (a) An Employee who voluntarily leaves the bargaining unit to fill a position with the Employer and returns to a bargaining unit position within two (2) years may, within two (2) years of returning to the bargaining unit position, apply to have their previous seniority reinstated, subject to conditions stipulated in Article 2.
- (b) An Employee whose position is removed from the bargaining unit under the Canada Labour Code may, upon return to a bargaining unit position or re-inclusion of their removed position, apply to be credited for seniority for the excluded period subject to conditions stipulated in Article 2.
- 13.04

An employee on approved special leave without pay will accrue seniority for a maximum of three (3) calendar months, subject to conditions stipulated in Article 2.

13.05

An employee laid-off and placed on the recall list in accordance with Article 12.08 will retain and continue to accumulate seniority during the period of lay-off and recall subject to conditions stipulated in Article 2.

13.06

No seniority shall accrue for short terms of temporary work, except that temporary employees who attain regular status shall have seniority credited from date of entry as an employee of the Employer, as provided in Article 5.04.

13.07

An employee on leave of absence on Union business in accordance with Article 9.01, or on sick leave, extended sick leave without pay or long term disability in accordance with Article 10 will continue to accrue seniority, subject to conditions stipulated in Article 2.

13.08

The Employer will provide the Union with a seniority list in January of each year, and at such times as may be required for the administration of this Agreement.

13.09

After satisfactory completion of the probationary period, seniority will commence from the date of hire.

ARTICLE 14 — GENERAL

14.01

Neither the Employer nor the employees shall be asked to make any written or verbal contract which may conflict with this Agreement.

14.02 Picket Lines

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discharge of any employee in the performance of <u>their</u> duties, to refuse to cross a legal picket line recognized by the Union. The Union shall notify the Employer, as soon as possible, of the existence of such recognized picket lines.

14.03 Bulletin Boards

Will be made available to the Union for the purpose of posting notices relating to meetings, dues, entertainment, health and safety, and general Union activities. All notices shall be submitted to the Employer before being posted. Approval shall not be withheld unreasonably by the Employer.

14.04 Health & Safety

The Employer agrees to provide a safe, properly lighted, heated and ventilated place of work with restrooms and first-aid facilities as required by applicable federal and provincial statute. The Employer further agrees to provide a healthful work environment for all employees, except where circumstances are beyond the Employers ability to maintain such an environment. Minutes of the Safety Committee as per section 135.1(9) of the Occupational Health & Safety section of the Canada Labour Code are to be submitted to both the Union and the Union committee member.

14.05 Personnel Files

The Employer shall supply the employee and the Union with a copy of any written warning or adverse report affecting the employee. Any written reply by the employee shall become part of the employee's record. In addition, employees shall have an opportunity, not more than twice per calendar year, to view their own personnel file under the supervision of the Supervisor, Human Resources (or delegate) and make written comments.

The record of any disciplinary action shall not be referred to or used against the employee at any time after twelve (12) months following such action, unless there is another record of disciplinary action issued for a directly related matter within that period.

14.06 Bargaining Unit Work

- (a) Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, no work which is normally, properly or customarily performed by members of the bargaining unit shall be contracted out, subcontracted or performed by other than MoveUP members in the bargaining unit.
- (b) Managers or other employees outside the bargaining unit shall not perform the duties customarily or properly performed by employees within the bargaining unit except in cases of emergency when bargaining unit members who can perform the required work are not available, or when a Manager is working alongside an employee for the purpose of training.

14.07 Parking

The Employer shall provide free parking on or adjacent to the Employer's premises for all employees in the bargaining unit desiring same as long as the ability to supply parking is within the Employer's control.

ARTICLE 15 — DISCHARGE AND TERMINATION

15.01

It is hereby agreed that the Employer has the right to discharge for just cause and notice or pay in lieu of notice may be given in the event of such discharge at the Employer's option.

15.02

If a regular employee is terminated, except as provided in Article 15.01 above, said employee shall receive two (2) weeks' notice immediately prior to the date of termination or the equivalent in wages. If notice is given immediately prior to the vacation period of any employee, such employee shall receive two (2) weeks' wages, at the employee's current salary, in addition to vacation pay to which the employee is entitled, plus all other benefits.

15.03

If upon joint investigation by the Union and the Employer, or by decision of an arbitration pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it shall be found that an employee has been unjustly discharged, the affected employee shall be subject to the award of such arbitration or pursuant to the mutual findings of the Union and the Employer, re-instated to their former position without any loss of seniority, Employee status or pay. Compensation for lost salary shall be as mutually agreed between the Employer and the Union or as decided by arbitration.

ARTICLE 16 — TECHNOLOGICAL OR PROCEDURAL CHANGES & SEVERANCE PAY

16.01

The Employer will provide the Union with as much notice as possible, but in any event not less than three (3) months' notice, of intention to introduce automation, equipment or procedures which might result in displacement or reduction of personnel or in proposed changes in job duties which affect the employee(s) job description(s).

16.02

Wherever practical, Employees becoming redundant due to new equipment or procedures shall be eligible for retraining to equip them for the operation of such new equipment or procedure, or to qualify for new positions. Such retraining will be based on seniority and provided by the Employer during regular working hours, whenever possible, without cost and without loss of pay to the affected employee(s). Where such training is only available outside of regular working hours, the matter will be discussed between the Parties and a mutually satisfactory arrangement shall be arrived at.

16.03

In cases where the retraining of employees is not practical, or where other positions with the Employer are not available, the provisions of Article 12.08 will apply, or the employee(s) shall elect for termination of employment, or shall elect to be placed on the recall list. An employee on recall under this Clause shall receive all the benefits they had accrued during employment at the end of the recall period or at such earlier time as they may elect to terminate.

16.04

Severance pay, as provided for in Article 16.05 following, shall be due and payable to a displaced employee immediately upon termination.

16.05 Severance Pay

Severance pay shall be paid to employees who terminate because of changes in administrative procedures, automation, consolidation, or suspension of business. Such Employees shall be entitled to severance pay in accordance with Article 12.08 (b) (ii).

ARTICLE 17 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

17.01

"Grievance" means any difference or dispute between the persons bound by this Collective Agreement concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement.

17.02

Grievances or complaints shall be settled in the following manner:

1. Employee Complaint/Grievance

(a) Step 1– Employee Complaint
Employees are encouraged to discuss any complaint, dispute or
misunderstanding relating to this Agreement with their immediate Supervisor as
soon as possible, and for the purpose of this clause not later than five (5) working
days from the date of the action which led to the complaint, dispute or
misunderstanding. A Job Steward may attend, at the option of the Employee.

(b) Step 2 – Employee Grievance

- (i) Should a complaint be unresolved, a grievance may be submitted by the Job Steward or Union Representative to the immediate Supervisor in writing, with a copy to the Department Manager, not later than ten (10) working days from the date the complaint was first raised at Step 1.
- (ii) The Supervisor will meet with and discuss the grievance as required with the Job Steward and/or Union Representative and render a decision in writing to the Union office with a copy to the Job Steward and the Department Manager, or their nominee, within ten (10) working days of the date of referral to Step 2.

(c) Step 3 – Employee Grievance

- (i) If a satisfactory settlement is not reached at Step 2, the grievance shall be referred, within the next seven (7) working days, to the Vice President, Human Resources or their designate. Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the referral to Step 3, a Union Representative and the Vice President, Human Resources or their designate will meet in an effort to resolve the dispute.
- (ii) Within fifteen (15) working days of the Step 3 meeting, the Vice President, Human Resources or <u>their</u> designate, will submit the Employer's decision to the Union in writing. Failing settlement, within seven (7) working days of receipt of the Vice President's Step 3 response, the dispute may be referred to arbitration as set forth in Article 18.
- 2. Discipline or Discharge Grievance
 Grievances concerning suspension or termination of an Employee may be submitted directly to Step 3 at the option of the Grieving Party. Grievances concerning the discipline of an Employee, for other than suspension or termination, may be submitted directly to Step 2.

3. Employer or Union Complaint/Grievance

- (i) If the Employer or the Union has a complaint, it shall be presented in writing to a person designated for that purpose by the Union or Employer.
- (ii) If a satisfactory settlement is not reached within seven (7) days of the date the dispute is received in writing, the dispute may, within thirty (30) days of that date be referred to the Arbitrator in the manner provided in Article 18 of this Agreement. The periods of seven (7) days and thirty (30) days may be extended by mutual

Collective Agreement between:

SEASPAN ULC and MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Local 378)

agreement of the Parties.

17.03

The time limits set forth in this Article may be extended by written mutual agreement between the Union and the Employer.

17.04

The Grievor may be present at any or all Steps of the Grievance Procedure, without loss of pay. Should the grievance proceed to arbitration, the Union will reimburse the Employer for the Grievor's wages for all regular hours of work missed to attend the Arbitration hearing. For clarity, no wages will be paid for any time spent by the grievor at arbitration outside their regular hours of work.

ARTICLE 18 — SINGLE ARBITRATOR

The Parties to this Agreement agree to use the service of a single Arbitrator as a means of settling grievances and disputes.

18.01

The Party desiring Arbitration under this Article will notify the other Party in writing, in accordance with the provisions of Article 17.

18.02

The Parties to the dispute will meet within seven (7) working days of the referral in Article 18.01 to decide upon an Arbitrator. Failing agreement, either Party may apply to the Minister of Labour for Canada to appoint an Arbitrator. Hearings shall commence within thirty (30) days of the appointment of the Arbitrator.

18.03

Upon appointment, the Arbitrator shall hear the Parties, settle the terms of question to be arbitrated and make <u>their</u> award within fifteen (15) days of the appointment or within such extended period as may be mutually agreed to by the Parties to the dispute. The Arbitrator shall deliver <u>their</u> award in writing to each of the Parties and this award shall be carried out forthwith. The Arbitrator shall not be vested with the power to change, modify or alter any of the terms of this Agreement. Each Party shall pay their own costs and expenses of the Arbitration and one-half (1/2) the remuneration and disbursements or expenses of the Arbitrator.

18.04 Single Arbitrator - Expedited Arbitration

- (a) By mutual agreement, the Parties may refer any grievance or group of grievances properly submitted in accordance with the provisions in Article 17 to expedited arbitration.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided, the expedited arbitration hearings shall be held within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of appointment of a single arbitrator whom the parties shall mutually agree upon.
- (c) Once a grievance is referred to expedited arbitration, any settlement achieved prior to the hearing date shall be without prejudice and precedent.
- (d) Any grievance may be removed from the expedited arbitration process by either party at any time prior to the hearing and referred to a regular arbitration hearing.
- (e) Grievances shall be presented during expedited arbitration by a designated representative of the Union and a designated representative of the Company, who shall not be external representatives, such as lawyers.
- (f) The decision of the arbitrator shall not constitute a precedent and shall not be referred to in subsequent arbitration proceedings. Such decision shall be final and binding on both parties.
- (g) The parties shall equally share the cost of fees and expenses of the arbitrator and hearing rooms.

ARTICLE 19 — DURATION

19.01

- (a) This Agreement shall be in full force and effect on and after the 1st day of March 2019 to and including the 28th day of February 2025 and thereafter in accordance with this Article.
- (b) Either Party may, at any time within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration date of this Agreement, serve written notice upon the other Party of its intention to reopen the Agreement for negotiation and revision or renewal. If written notice is given by a Party hereto, the other Party to the Agreement shall be required to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new Collective Agreement. The Parties shall exchange particulars of desired changes to the Agreement not later than the date of the first meeting of negotiations.
- (c) Where such written notice is given, the provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until a new Agreement is signed and executed or the Union commences strike action or the Employer commences a lock-out, whichever occurs first.

19.02

In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall at any time be materially altered or otherwise be declared invalid by any court or competent authority or through applicable legislation arising from the legislative branch of the government, the remaining provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

Signed this 28th day of April, 2022.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part

Andrew Jansen.

Manager, Employee Relations

Scott Shaw,

Senior Director, Employee Relations and Wellness Job Steward

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part

Yudøn Garie,

Union Representative

Dale Gibson,

E&OE : USW 2009

Update Job Titles and Descriptions: The parties agree to form a committee consisting of two (2) members from the employer and two (2) members of the Union. The committee will review and update all job titles and descriptions, without changing the Grade Classification, to ensure the duties contained within them are accurate with the work performed.

*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis. Effective March 1, 2019 an additional \$0.50/hour for Receptionist

Increase March 1, 2019 – 2.3%

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	12 MONTHS	24 MONTHS
GRADE I Jr. Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,613.00 22.23 1.20	3,932.00 24.20 1.30	4,251.00 26.16 1.41	N/A
GRADE II Clerk Typist Jr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,750.00 23.08 1.24	4,082.00 25.12 1.35	4,412.00 27.15 1.46	N/A
GRADE III Payroll Clerk Accounting Clerk Billing Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,969.00 24.42 1.31	4,319.00 26.58 1.43	4,669.00 28.73 1.55	N/A
GRADE IV Switchboard/Receptionist Billing Clerk/Steno Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief Sr. Accounting Clerk Keypunch Clerk Clerk Steno Payroll Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38% Receptionist* Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,111.00 25.30 1.36 4,195.00 25.82 1.39	4,473.00 27.53 1.48 4,556.00 28.04 1.51	4,837.00 29.77 1.60 4,920.00 30.28 1.63	N/A
GRADE V Sr. Clerk Steno Sr. Payroll Clerk Personnel Assistant Sr. Purchasing Clerk Receiver/Storekeeper Computer Terminal Operator Payroll Analyst	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,348.00 26.76 1.44	4,730.00 29.11 1.57	5,113.00 31.46 1.69	N/A
GRADE VI Shift Crew Dispatcher Sr. Payroll Analyst Sr. Terminal Operator Jr. Accountant Buyer/Expediter	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,624.00 28.46 1.53	5,031.00 30.96 1.67	5,441.00 33.48 1.80	5,847.00 35.98 1.94
GRADE VII Sr. Crew Dispatcher Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,103.00 31.40 1.69	5,554.00 34.18 1.84	6,003.00 36.94 1.99	6,453.00 39.71 2.14
GRADE VIII Sr. Buyer	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,445.00 33.51 1.80	5,924.00 36.46 1.96	6,406.00 39.42 2.12	6,887.00 42.38 2.28

Collective Agreement between:

SEASPAN ULC and MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Local 378)

Increase March 1, 2020 – 2.0%*

*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA

*The contraction of the higher received about the applied to Manuful members on a failure properties begin

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	12 MONTHS	24 MONTHS
		SIAKI	MONTHS	MONTHS	MONTHS
GRADE I	Rate	3,685.00	4,011.00	4,336.00	N/A
Jr. Clerk Typist	Hourly	22.68	24.68	26.68	,
	EDO @ 5.38%	1.22	1.33	1.44	
GRADE II	.				DT / A
Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly	3,825.00	4,164.00	4,500.00 27.69	N/A
Jr. Accounting Clerk	EDO @ 5.38%	23.54	25.62 1.38	1.49	
GRADE III		1.27	1.30	1.49	
	Rate	4,048.00	4,405.00	4,762.00	N/A
Payroll Clerk	Hourly	24.91	27.11	29.30	
Accounting Clerk	EDO @ 5.38%	1.34	1.46	1.58	
Billing Clerk					
GRADE IV	Rate	4,193.00	4,562.00	4,934.00	N/A
Switchboard/Receptionist	Hourly	25.80	28.07	30.36	,
Billing Clerk/Steno	EDO @ 5.38%	1.39	1.51	1.63	
Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief					
Sr. Accounting Clerk	Document *	4,279.00	4,647.00	5,018.00	
	Receptionist* Hourly	26.33	28.60	30.88	
Keypunch Clerk	EDO @ 5.38%	1.42	1.54	1.66	
Clerk Steno					
Payroll Clerk					
GRADE V	Rate	4,435.00	4,825.00	5,215.00	N/A
Sr. Clerk Steno	Hourly	27.29	29.69	32.09	,
Sr. Payroll Clerk	EDO @ 5.38%	1.47	1.60	1.73	
Personnel Assistant					
Sr. Purchasing Clerk					
Receiver/Storekeeper					
Computer Terminal Operator					
Payroll Analyst					
GRADE VI	D .				* 064.00
Shift Crew Dispatcher	Rate Hourly	4,716.00	5,132.00 31.58	5,550.00 34.15	5,964.00 36.70
Sr. Payroll Analyst	EDO @ 5.38%	1.56	1.70	1.84	1.97
Sr. Terminal Operator		1.00			
Jr. Accountant			1		
Buyer/Expediter					
GRADE VII	Rate	5,205.00	5,665.00	6,123.00	6,582.00
Sr. Crew Dispatcher	Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	32.03	34.86	37.68	40.50 2.18
Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	EDO @ 5.30%	1.72	1.88	2.03	2.10
GRADE VIII	Rate	5,554.00	6,042.00	6,534.00	7,025.00
Sr. Buyer	Hourly	34.18	37.18	40.21	43.23
	EDO @ 5.38%	1.84	2.00	2.16	2.33

Increase March 1, 2021 – 2.0%*
*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis.

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	MONTHS	24 MONTHS
GRADE I Jr. Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,759.00 23.13 1.24	4,091.00 25.18 1.35	4,423.00 27.22 1.46	N/A
GRADE II Clerk Typist Jr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,902.00 24.01 1.29	4,247.00 26.14 1.41	4,590.00 28.25 1.52	N/A
GRADE III Payroll Clerk Accounting Clerk Billing Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,129.00 25.41 1.37	4,493.00 27.65 1.49	4,857.00 29.89 1.61	N/A
GRADE IV Switchboard/Receptionist Billing Clerk/Steno Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,277.00 26.32 1.42	4,653.00 28.63 1.54	5,033.00 30.97 1.67	N/A
Sr. Accounting Clerk Keypunch Clerk Clerk Steno Payroll Clerk	Receptionist* Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,365.00 26.86 1.45	4,740.00 29.17 1.57	5,118.00 31.50 1.69	
GRADE V Sr. Clerk Steno Sr. Payroll Clerk Personnel Assistant Sr. Purchasing Clerk Receiver/Storekeeper Computer Terminal Operator Payroll Analyst	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,524.00 27.84 1.50	4,922.00 30.29 1.63	5,319.00 32.73 1.76	N/A
GRADE VI Shift Crew Dispatcher Sr. Payroll Analyst Sr. Terminal Operator Jr. Accountant Buyer/Expediter	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,810.00 29.60 1.59	5,235.00 32.22 1.73	5,661.00 34.84 1.87	6,083.00 37.43 2.01
GRADE VII Sr. Crew Dispatcher Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,309.00 32.67 1.76	5,778.00 35.56 1.91	6,245.00 38.43 2.07	6,714.00 41.32 2.22
GRADE VIII Sr. Buyer	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,665.00 34.86 1.88	6,163.00 37.93 2.04	6,665.00 41.02 2.21	7,166.00 44.10 2.37

Increase March 1, 2022 – 2.0%*

*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis.

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	12 MONTHS	24 MONTHS
GRADE I Jr. Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,834.00 23.59 1.27	4,173.00 25.68 1.38	4,511.00 27.76 1.49	N/A
GRADE II Clerk Typist Jr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,980.00 24.49 1.32	4,332.00 26.66 1.43	4,682.00 28.81 1.55	N/A
GRADE III Payroll Clerk Accounting Clerk Billing Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,212.00 25.92 1.39	4,583.00 28.20 1.52	4,954.00 30.49 1.64	N/A
GRADE IV Switchboard/Receptionist Billing Clerk/Steno Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief Sr. Accounting Clerk Keypunch Clerk Clerk Steno Payroll Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38% Receptionist* Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,363.00 26.85 1.44 4,452.00 27.40 1.47	4,746.00 29.21 1.57 4,835.00 29.75 1.60	5,134.00 31.59 1.70 5,220.00 32.12 1.73	N/A
GRADE V Sr. Clerk Steno Sr. Payroll Clerk Personnel Assistant Sr. Purchasing Clerk Receiver/Storekeeper Computer Terminal Operator Payroll Analyst	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,614.00 28.39 1.53	5,020.00 30.89 1.66	5,425.00 33.38 1.80	N/A
GRADE VI Shift Crew Dispatcher Sr. Payroll Analyst Sr. Terminal Operator Jr. Accountant Buyer/Expediter	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,906.00 30.19 1.62	5,340.00 32.86 1.77	5,774.00 35.53 1.91	6,205.00 38.18 2.05
GRADE VII Sr. Crew Dispatcher Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,415.00 33.32 1.79	5,894.00 36.27 1.95	6,370.00 39.20 2.11	6,848.00 42.14 2.27
GRADE VIII Sr. Buyer	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,778.00 35.56 1.91	6,286.00 38.68 2.08	6,798.00 41.83 2.25	7,309.00 44.98 2.42

Increase March 1, 2023 – 2.0%*
*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis.

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	12 MONTHS	24 MONTHS
GRADE I Jr. Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,911.00 24.07 1.29	4,256.00 26.19 1.41	4,601.00 28.31 1.52	N/A
GRADE II Clerk Typist Jr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,060.00 24.98 1.34	4,419.00 27.19 1.46	4,776.00 29.39 1.58	N/A
GRADE III Payroll Clerk Accounting Clerk Billing Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,296.00 26.44 1.42	4,675.00 28.77 1.55	5,053.00 31.10 1.67	N/A
GRADE IV Switchboard/Receptionist Billing Clerk/Steno Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief Sr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38% Receptionist*	4,450.00 27.38 1.47 4,541.00	4,841.00 29.79 1.60 4,932.00	5,237.00 32.23 1.73 5,324.00	N/A
Keypunch Clerk Clerk Steno Payroll Clerk	Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	27.94 1.50	30.35 1.63	32.76 1.76	
GRADE V Sr. Clerk Steno Sr. Payroll Clerk Personnel Assistant Sr. Purchasing Clerk Receiver/Storekeeper Computer Terminal Operator Payroll Analyst	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,706.00 28.96 1.56	5,120.00 31.51 1.70	5,534.00 34.06 1.83	N/A
GRADE VI Shift Crew Dispatcher Sr. Payroll Analyst Sr. Terminal Operator Jr. Accountant Buyer/Expediter	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,004.00 30.79 1.66	5,447.00 33.52 1.80	5,889.00 36.24 1.95	6,329.00 38.95 2.10
GRADE VII Sr. Crew Dispatcher Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,523.00 33.99 1.83	6,012.00 37.00 1.99	6,497.00 39.98 2.15	6,985.00 42.98 2.31
GRADE VIII Sr. Buyer	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,894.00 36.27 1.95	6,412.00 39.46 2.12	6,934.00 42.67 2.30	7,455.00 45.88 2.47

Increase March 1, 2024 – 2.0%*

*Should either the CMSG or ILWU Local 400 receive a general wage increase which exceeds the percentages received by MoveUP, inclusive of any COLA amounts negotiated the higher percentage shall be applied to MoveUP members on a fully retroactive basis.

CLASSIFICATION		START	3 MONTHS	12 MONTHS	24 MONTHS
GRADE I Jr. Clerk Typist	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	3,989.22 24.55 1.32	4,341.00 26.71 1.44	4,693.00 28.88 1.55	N/A
GRADE II Clerk Typist Jr. Accounting Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,141.00 25.48 1.37	4,507.00 27.74 1.49	4,872.00 29.98 1.61	N/A
GRADE III Payroll Clerk Accounting Clerk Billing Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,382.00 26.97 1.45	4,769.00 29.35 1.58	5,154.00 31.72 1.71	N/A
GRADE IV Switchboard/Receptionist Billing Clerk/Steno Accounting Assistant/Project/Relief Sr. Accounting Clerk Keypunch Clerk Clerk Steno Payroll Clerk	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38% Receptionist* Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,539.00 27.93 1.50 4,632.00 28.50 1.53	4,938.00 30.39 1.63 5,031.00 30.96 1.67	5,342.00 32.87 1.77 5,430.00 33.42 1.80	N/A
GRADE V Sr. Clerk Steno Sr. Payroll Clerk Personnel Assistant Sr. Purchasing Clerk Receiver/Storekeeper Computer Terminal Operator Payroll Analyst	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	4,800.00 29.54 1.59	5,222.00 32.14 1.73	5,645.00 34.74 1.87	N/A
GRADE VI Shift Crew Dispatcher Sr. Payroll Analyst Sr. Terminal Operator Jr. Accountant Buyer/Expediter	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,104.00 31.41 1.69	5,556.00 34.19 1.84	6,007.00 36.97 1.99	6,456.00 39.73 2.14
GRADE VII Sr. Crew Dispatcher Buyer Expediter/Work Leader	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	5,633.00 34.66 1.86	6,132.00 37.74 2.03	6,627.00 40.78 2.19	7,125.00 43.85 2.36
GRADE VIII Sr. Buyer	Rate Hourly EDO @ 5.38%	6,012.00 37.00 1.99	6,540.00 40.25 2.17	7,073.00 43.53 2.34	7,604.00 46.79 2.52

APPENDIX "B" TRANSITIONAL VACATION YEARS

For the first, second, seventh, fifteenth and twentieth year of service, if the actual service anniversary does not correspond with the Vacation Year, vacation entitlement in working days will be as follows:

Service Anniversary in following	First Year	Second Year	Seventh Year	Fifteenth Year	Twentieth Year
July	10 days	15 days	20 days	25 days	30 days
August	10 days	15 days	20 days	25 days	30 days
September	9 days	14 days	19 days	24 days	29 days
October	8 days	14 days	19 days	24 days	29 days
November	7 days	13 days	18 days	23 days	28 days
December	6 days	13 days	18 days	23 days	28 days
January	5 days	13 days	18 days	23 days	28 days
February	4 days	12 days	17 days	22 days	27 days
March	3 days	12 days	17 days	22 days	27 days
April	2 days	11 days	16 days	21 days	26 days
May	1 day	11 days	16 days	21 days	26 days

EXAMPLE OF VACATION ENTITLEMENT

Joan Doe commenced employment January 1, 1991. Her vacation entitlement would be as follows:

Vacation	Vacation to commence
Earned	during period
5 days	June 1/91 to March 31/92
13 days	June 1/92 to March 31/93
15 days	June 1/93 to March 31/94
15 days	June 1/94 to March 31/95
18 days	June 1/97 to March 31/98
20 days	June 1/98 to March 31/99
23 days	June 1/05 to March 31/06
25 days	June 1/06 to March 31/07
28 days	June 1/10 to March 31/11
30 days	June 1/11 to March 31/12
	Earned 5 days 13 days 15 days 15 days 18 days 20 days 23 days 25 days

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1

BETWEEN: SEASPAN ULC

AND: MoveUP

(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)

Re: Compensation in Lieu of Earned Days Off

It is understood that employees have the option of cashing in their earned days off specified in Article 6.02.

Signed at September 30, 2016.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER

Party of the First Part

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part

"Virginie Vigeant, Employee Relations Manager"

"Stephen Von Sychowski, Union Representative"

"Maria Pistilli, Manager"

"Dale Gibson, Job Steward"

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2

BETWEEN: SEASPAN ULC

AND: MoveUP

(Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378)

RE: Shift Crew Dispatcher & Marine Crewing Assistant Work Schedule

The company acknowledges that "on call" duties performed by Shift Crew Dispatchers and the Marine Crew Assistant as per Article 6.01 (b) is work that is normally, properly and customarily performed by members of the bargaining unit.

Effective June 2nd, 2014 and until further notice, the parties agree that the "on call" duties outside of regular working hours for Shift Crew Dispatchers and Marine Crew Assistant outlined in Article 6.01 (b) will be removed from the duties and be performed by Manager or other employees outside the bargaining unit.

During the period in which "on call" duties are performed outside of the bargaining unit the Shift Crew Dispatchers and Marine Crew Assistant will not be eligible for the "on call" remuneration outlined in Article 6.01(b)(iv) and Article 6.01 (b)(v).

The parties agree to continue discussions in an effort to develop a schedule for the Shift Crew Dispatchers and Marine Crew Assistants that is acceptable to both parties. If the parties reach agreement on a schedule the above duties will be returned to the bargaining unit and members will receive the "on call" remuneration as outlined in the collective agreement.

Signed at September 30, 2016.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part

"Virginie Vigeant, Employee Relations Manager"

"Stephen Von Sychowski, Union Representative"

"Maria Pistilli, Manager"

"Dale Gibson, Job Steward"